# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2006-TS-00639

#### UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI MEDICAL CENTER AND JOHN DOES ONE THROUGH TEN

APPELLANT

VS.

EARQUELLA WARD

APPELLEE

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Earquella Ward, appellee.

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. The trial court erred by relying upon non-existent and otherwise inadmissible testimony by treating physician Dr. Walter Wolfe.

2. The trial court erred by materially mischaracterizing the testimony of Dr. Thomas Austin.

3. The trial court erred in finding that Dr. Dave David was qualified as an expert witness in this case and that his testimony was relevant and reliable.

4. The trial court erred in finding that plaintiff's expert, Dr. Dave David, proved that UMMC breached the standard of care, proximately and foreseeably causing Ms. Ward's alleged severe infection and hysterectomy on or about April 5, 2004.

5. The trial court erred in any reliance upon the OB/GYN department's student practice guidelines as the standard of care in this case.

6. The trial court erred in denying UMMC's motion for directed verdict (involuntary dismissal).

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Nature of the case, the course of the proceedings, and its disposition in the trial court.

Ms. Earquella Ward filed her lawsuit against the University of Mississippi Medical Center ("UMMC"), on December 31, 2002, alleging medical malpractice resulting in a hysterectomy. (C.P. 7.) The trial took place on October 24, 2005, with the trial judge sitting as the trier of fact pursuant to the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. At trial Ms. Ward offered the supportive testimony of her experts, Dr. Dave David (former practicing OB/GYN)

physician who now derives most of his income through expert testimony) and Dr. Walter Wolfe (treating physician at Central Mississippi Medical Center ("CMMC") who performed the hysterectomy). UMMC offered the supportive testimony of its experts and physicians Dr. Carl Reddix (a local practicing OB/GYN physician), Dr. Stanley Chapman (director of the division of infectious diseases at UMMC), Dr. James Martin (attending physician and chief of the OB/GYN department at UMMC), and Dr. Thomas Austin, Dr. Ty Robinson, and Dr. Ben Hudson (former OB/GYN residents and licensed physicians).

Pursuant to the trial court's direction, the parties submitted post trial briefs. UMMC submitted its "Defendant's Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law." (R.E. 5.) The plaintiff submitted her "Trial Brief of the Plaintiff." (C.P. 226; R.E.10.)

The trial judge's "Memorandum Opinion and Judgment" was signed on March 15, 2006, with a finding that UMMC breached the standard of care, proximately causing or contributing to Ms. Ward's injury, including her hysterectomy. (C.P. 243; R.E. 7.) Another judgment awarding damages was subsequently signed on April 25, 2006. (C.P. 253; R.E. 6.) From these judgments against UMMC, this appeal is taken.

#### **B.** Statement of the facts relevant to the issues presented for review.

Plaintiff Ms. Earquella Ward delivered her second child by repeat Caesarean section on March 14, 2002, at UMMC. She had a normal post-partal course until March 18, 2002, when she experienced a single temperature spike and a second elevated though declining temperature measurement. (T. 412-420, 529-530, 571-577; R.E. 2, pp. 13-14; T.E. D-1, 70.) Based upon her clinical examination, Ms. Ward was diagnosed with presumed endometritis ("EMM"), which is an inflammation or infection of the inner lining of the uterus and a

-2-

known complication of a Caesarean delivery, a diagnosis plaintiff maintains is correct. (T. 203, 218, 236, 258-259, 418-420, 537, 544-545, 601-602; R.E. 2, pp. 22-23; T.E., D-1, 44.)

Ms. Ward was treated for EMM with intravenous Unasyn, a broad spectrum penicillin antibiotic covering multiple bacterial pathogens which was one of the antibiotics recommended by the practice guidelines. (T. 202-203, 258, 418, 421-422, 457, 459, 531-532, 541, 573-575; R.E. 11, p. 3.) Ms. Ward remained on Unasyn for 42 hours, approximately 48 hours after her elevated temperature showed a significant decline. (T. 211-212, 215-218, 418, 421-422, 531-532, 573-575; T.E. D-1,110, 114.)

Several laboratory tests (complete blood count - "CBC", urinalysis, and blood cultures) were among those tests listed in the OB/GYN department's student practice guidelines and initially planned by resident physician Dr. Thomas Austin, but for unknown reasons they were not ordered, possibly because they were deemed unnecessary by the attending physician. (T. 218-220, 234, 535-536; R.E. 11, p. 2; R.E. 2, pp. 27-28; T.E. D-1, 44.) The guidelines were not a protocol, but were a summation of diagnostic and treatment considerations and a starting point for student learning created by the OB/GYN faculty. (T. 533-535, 602-603.)

During her hospitalization, Ms. Ward's incision showed no signs or symptoms of infection. (T. 228, 427-428, 435, 538, 578; R.E. 2, p. 23; T.E. D-1, 44-45, 124.) Because her symptoms readily improved, no re-evaluation of her condition for resistant organisms such as MRSA was thus needed, as suggested by the guidelines if a patient's condition does not improve after initial antibiotic therapy. (R.E. 11, p. 3; R.E.2, p. 15; T. 212, 421, 532, 538, 575-578.) On March 20, 2002, she was discharged home with no evidence of infection.

-3-

(T. 212, 226, 426-427, 532, 538, 577-578; R.E. 2, pp. 17-18; T.E. D-1, 44, 124.) Defendant's experts Dr. Reddix, Dr. Martin, and Dr. Chapman all testified that the care received on March 18-20 was within the standard of care and no laboratory testing was required. (T. 411, 423, 435, 453, 538-539, 570, 575, 593.)

One week later on March 27, 2002, a home nurse from the health department observed that Ms. Ward's temperature was elevated and pulled off the incision dressing, documenting redness, swelling and slightly brownish purulent drainage from a small nodule. (T. 50-51, 343-344; T.E. D-4, 31.) At her suggestion, Ms. Ward went to the UMMC OB Receiving clinic that same day for a wound evaluation. At UMMC, Dr. Ty Robinson observed fever and swelling but no redness at that point. (T. 120-121; R.E.3, p. 7-8; R.E. 4, p.69, 12, 22; T.E. D-1,190-191,195,198.) He opened, drained and cleaned the portion of Ms. Ward's incision displaying symptoms, finding only clear seroma fluid as the source of her inflammation, and no purulent drainage. (R.E. 3, pp.7-8; R.E. 4, pp. 6, 8-9, 16, 20-21; T.E. D-1,190-191, 195,198.) Dr. Robinson found no signs indicative of EMM on March 27. (R.E. 4, p. 8-10,16-17.)

Given Ms. Ward's clinical presentation, no CBC or wound culture was needed on March 27. (T. 429-430, 434, 559-561, 579-580; R.E. 4, pp. 8, 12-14; R.E. 3, pp. 9-11,16.) There is disagreement between the experts as to whether Ms. Ward's incision was inflamed or infected on March 27, although plaintiff's expert Dr. David based his opinion that it was infected solely on an incorrect assumption that the wound interior contained purulent drainage. (T. 274-275, 429-434,546, 555, 578-581; R.E. 3, pp. 9-10; R.E. 4, pp. 8,10-12,17,21.) Nonetheless, Ms. Ward was provided treatment that would have been curative of a wound infection even if one had been present. (T. 433-434, 579-580; R.E. 4, pp. 8, 12-14; R.E. 3, pp. 9-11,16.)

After Dr. Robinson opened, drained and cleaned Ms. Ward's incision, she was given wound care instructions to continue at home and she was prophylactically prescribed Keflex, a broad spectrum oral antibiotic used to treat soft tissue infections. (T. 432-433, 518, 558-559, 564, 578-580; R.E. 4, pp. 12,18-20, 22; R.E. 3, pp. 8-9,12-15; T.E. D-1, p. 191.) Over the next several days, Ms. Ward's fever abated, her drainage stopped, her incision closed, and she brought no further complaints to UMMC. (T. 347-348, 435, 581-583.) Defendant's experts Dr. Reddix, Dr. Martin, and Dr. Chapman testified that the care received on March 27 was within the standard of care and no laboratory testing was required. (T. 411, 433-435, 453, 563-564, 570, 579-581, 593.)

On April 5, 2002, Ms. Ward went to the emergency department at Central Mississippi Medical Center ("CMMC"), with complaints of brisk vaginal bleeding. (T. 136, 348-349, 436-437; T.E. D-2,385-387.) Ms. Ward's temperature was normal, her CBC showed a white blood count ("WBC") within the normal laboratory range, and her clinical presentation did not otherwise suggest a severe infection on admission. (T. 142-143, 437-439, 482-483, 506, 582-586, 597; T.E. D-2, 385-387, 427.) Ms. Ward was examined by the emergency department physician who made no mention of a potential infection. (T. 438-442; T.E. D-1, 385-387.) An ultrasound report indicated several possible evolving hematomas (blood clots), in Ms. Ward's uterus and abdomen, an occurrence not uncommon after a Cesarean delivery. (T. 273-274, 441-442, 499, 605-606; T.E. D-2, 442.)

-5-

Ms. Ward was later examined by Dr. Walter Wolfe, an on-call OB/GYN physician, who performed immediate exploratory surgery for infection with possible necrotizing fasciitis (a rare but life-threatening infection of the abdominal wall) which was ruled out during surgery. (T. 172, 444-445; T.E. D-2, 265-267.) At trial Dr. Wolfe testified that he removed Ms. Ward's uterus "for the best post operative outcome," and "the absolute best benefit" although her ovaries were left intact. (T.152, 154, 183-184.) No blood culture was performed at CMMC, as Dr. Wolfe did not think Ms. Ward had infection in her bloodstream. (T. 142-143, 518, 584-585.) There was disagreement among the experts as to whether or not Ms. Ward had a severe infection prior to her surgery on April 5, 2006, but Dr. Wolfe's notes indicate that Ms. Ward was in stable condition following the surgical procedure. (T. 277-279, 436-442, 582-583; T.E. D-2, 368-369.) The first time Ms. Ward began to exhibit clear symptoms of infection was post-operatively the following day when she developed a continuous fever and an elevated white blood count that rose to more than twice the normal range. (T. 451, 452, 515-516, 585-586; T.E. D-2, 416, 418, 424, 427.)

Dr. Wolfe documented that Ms. Ward stated before surgery that she did not want any more children, and she did not have a problem with a hysterectomy, if necessary, on this basis. (T. 145-147, 172-174, T.E. D-2, 366.) After the surgery, Dr. Waddell, the physician who made rounds on Ms. Ward, documented that he told her about the hysterectomy and that she would not be able to have additional children, whereupon she responded that this was okay with her. (T. 174-176, T.E. D-2, 415.)

The culture taken of the surface of Ms. Ward's suture line during surgery returned a delayed growth three days later of "few" methicillin resistant staphylococcus bacteria ("MRSA"), of the outpatient or community-acquired variety. (T. 160, 448-451, 586-589, 591, 596; T.E. D-2, 436.) MRSA is a strain of staph aureas bacteria which is normally found on the skin surface and is resistant to many commonly used antibiotics.(T. 263-266, 448-450, 586-589, 591.) The "few" number of colonies indicated a small amount of bacteria and the delayed three-day growth indicated the MRSA was not a major organism in any infection. (T. 449-451, 586-589, 591.) An MRSA infection has an incubation period of a few hours to a day or two, and was believed by Dr. Reddix and Dr. Chapman to be a contamination of the wound surface rather than the cause of an infection. (T. 448-451, 586-589, 591-592, 604.) Dr. Chapman testified that it is very common to have staph bacteria (including MRSA) on a person's skin as normal flora. (T. 591.)

A culture taken from the deeper incision site grew high numbers of group B streptococcus, a bacteria normally found in the GI tract, the vagina, and the skin of the perineal area, which Dr. Chapman thought to be the cause of Ms. Ward's infection subsequent to her admission to CMMC. (T. 450-451 589-591, 596-597; T.E. D-2, p. 435.) Group B Strep is sensitive to penicillins, such as Unasyn. (T. 162,421; T.E. D-2, p. 435, R.E. 11, pp. 1, 3.) The typical rapid progression of a Group B strep infection made it unlikely that Ms. Ward had the Group B strep infection found at CMMC more than a couple of hours to a couple of days before its discovery. (T. 592, 604, 608-609.) The culture taken from the abdominal drainage tube several days after surgery revealed no growth of bacteria, thus no bacteria was documented in the deeper abdominal area. (T. 451-452, 590-591; T.E. D-2, 434.)

Dr. Wolfe's original operative note written on the day of the surgery explained the procedure simply as an exploratory laparotomy with lysis of adhesions, evacuation of a massive abdominal wall hematoma, total abdominal hysterectomy and wound debridement. (T. 175; T.E. D-2, 415.) When the uterus was examined by the pathologist after surgery, his findings were consistent with the pre-surgical ultrasound report, and he found no necrosis, purulent infection, or missing portions. (T. 445-448, 494-496, 607-608; T.E. D-2, 421-422.) However, Dr. Wolfe's later operative note, dictated on April 8, 2004, (by which time Ms. Ward had developed a serious post-operative infection) stated that he had removed Ms. Ward's uterus because it was infected and necrotic with portions missing. (T. 149, 152-153; T.E. D-2, 368-369.) Dr. Wolfe initially prescribed several antibiotics (including Unasyn) for Ms. Ward, but changed her antibiotics as indicated in the cultures when her condition did not improve. (T. 158-159; T.E. D-2, 379-380, 407.) The pathology report did indicate the presence of chronic endometritis ("EMM"), which was more likely than not an inflammatory response to the normal process of Ms. Ward's uterus shrinking back to prepregnancy size and may have been the cause of Ms. Ward's vaginal bleeding on April 5. (T. 447-448, 600-601.)

Ms. Ward did not take all of her antibiotics after leaving CMMC as instructed, and developed a small pus pocket on her abdomen near the incision. (T. 181-182; T.E. D-14.) Ms. Ward informed Dr. Wolfe that unless he had done something wrong she should not have an infection. (T. 182.) Dr. Wolfe chastised Ms. Ward for not taking her antibiotics and for wearing extremely tight jeans, which could have negatively affected the healing process and trapped infectious material in her incision. (T. 180-183.)

#### III. <u>SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT</u>

Ms. Ward believes that she had an EMM infection on March 18 and a wound infection on March 27, although her expert, Dr. David, did not fully acknowledge the fact that UMMC had diagnosed her as possibly having these conditions and had actually treated her for them. Although plaintiff counsel attempted to guide the questioning to imply that Ms. Ward had an MRSA infection on March 18 and/or on March 27 based on the finding of the few MRSA bacteria on the surface of her incision on April 5, Dr. David did not express this opinion. (T. 263-265, 282-284.)

In the course of his testimony, Dr. David discussed multiple diagnostic tests, treatments, conditions and problems. The language he used was often so nonspecific that it was unclear which test, treatment, condition or problem he was referring to. His opinion was based upon multiple factual inaccuracies and he failed to explain the basis of his illogical opinion that the several alleged breaches of the standard of care proximately caused Ms. Ward's later hysterectomy. The sum of his testimony essentially alleged a failure to cure, and was so nonspecific and unsupported by the facts as to be unreliable and unconvincing as authority.

UMMC maintains that Ms. Ward was properly diagnosed and treated for presumed EMM within the standard of care on March 18, after which her symptoms readily responded. UMMC further maintains that Ms. Ward was examined for a possible wound infection on March 27 and treated with wound cleaning, antibiotics and continued home wound care meeting the standard of care, and her symptoms likewise responded quickly. As UMMC and

-9-

Dr. David based their diagnoses on Ms. Ward's clinical presentation, the performance of laboratory testing was not required.

UMMC asserts that no breach of care or lack of care provided by UMMC proximately and foreseeably caused Ms. Ward's hysterectomy at CMMC. UMMC maintains that the short incubation period of MRSA and Group B strep precluded a likelihood that these infections were present on March 18 and 27, and the few MRSA bacteria cultured from the surface of her incision during surgery on April 5 was most likely a community-acquired contaminant rather than an infection. UMMC notes that because the few MRSA bacteria cultured were found only on the incision surface and no MRSA bacteria was found on or near Ms. Ward's uterus area at any time, plaintiff failed to explain how treating this alleged MRSA infection on the skin surface would have spared Ms. Ward's uterus. It is clear that Ms. Ward presented with symptoms of a severe post-operative infection at all until after her hysterectomy, and there is disagreement between UMMC's experts and plaintiff's experts as to whether or not Ms. Ward had a severe uterine infection prior to her surgery.

In this appeal, UMMC challenges the trial court's findings and reliance upon nonexistent and otherwise inadmissible testimony by treating physician Dr. Walter Wolfe that UMMC breached the standard of care, proximately causing Ms. Ward's hysterectomy. UMMC likewise requests a review of the trial court's material mischaracterizations of the testimony of Dr. Thomas Austin, the physician who treated Ms. Ward for her presumed EMM on March 18.

UMMC maintains that the trial court erred in finding that plaintiff's expert, Dr. Dave David, was qualified as an expert, and maintains that his testimony was irrelevant and unreliable. Dr. David's qualifications were outdated, his knowledge of the facts incomplete, his veracity suspect and his testimony confounding, highly speculative and based on incorrect factual evidence. UMMC maintains that the trial court erred in finding that Dr. David proved that UMMC breached the standard of care on March 18-20 and March 27, proximately and foreseeably causing or contributing to Ms. Ward's alleged severe uterine infection and hysterectomy on April 5, 2002. UMMC also challenges any reliance upon the OB/GYN student practice guidelines as the standard of care, where individualization of this teaching tool is expected, and challenges the position that the guidelines cannot be modified even by their creators. Finally, UMMC maintains that the trial court should have granted its motion for directed verdict or involuntary dismissal under Miss. R. Civ. P. 41(b), as the plaintiff failed to prove that Dr. David, an unqualified and unreliable expert, had established the standard of care and proven proximate cause. To this end, UMMC specifically challenges the trial court's opinion that finding a question as to an alleged breach of duty alone created a prima facie case of negligence, wholly negating the required element of proximate cause.

#### IV. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### A. <u>Standard of Review</u>.

"Where - as here - a trial judge sits without a jury, this court will not disturb his factual determinations where there may be found in the records substantial supporting evidence." *Rice Researchers, Inc. v. Hiter*, 512 So. 2d 1259, 1264 (Miss. 1987). "A circuit court judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regards to his findings

as a chancellor, and his findings will not be reversed on appeal where they are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence." *Donaldson v. Covington County*, 846 So. 2d 219, 222 (Miss. 2003); see also *Mississippi Department of Transportation v. Trosclair*, 851 So. 2d 408, 413 (Miss Ct. App.2003). If it appears that a trial judge has adopted verbatim the proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law submitted by one of the parties, the appeals court will stray from the usual practice of deferential treatment of the trial judge's findings of fact and will apply a heightened scrutiny or *de novo* review. *City of Greenville v. Jones*, 925 So. 2d 106, ¶21(Miss. 2006). Where a trial court misperceives the correct legal standard to be applied, the appeals court will review questions of law *de novo*. *Estate of Grubbs v. Woods*, 753 So. 2d 1043, 1047 (Miss. 2000).

#### B. <u>Conclusions of Law</u>.

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