**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI
NO. 2006-TS-00639**

**UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI MEDICAL
CENTER AND JOHN DOES ONE THROUGH TEN**

APPELLANT

VS.

EARQUELLA WARD

APPELLEE

**ON APPEAL FROM THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT
OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI**

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

Patrick Williams (MSB No. [REDACTED])
Gerald J. Diaz (MSB No. [REDACTED])
Gerald J. Diaz Jr., P.A.
125 South Congress St.
Jackson, MS 39201
Telephone: (601) 969-1111

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI
NO. 2006-TS-00639**

**UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI MEDICAL
CENTER AND JOHN DOES ONE THROUGH TEN**

APPELLANT

VS.

EARQUELLA WARD

APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Defendant's main argument on appeal is that Plaintiff's expert, Dr. Dave David, was not qualified to testify as an expert, and that the defendant's expert testimony was more reliable. However, defendant's arguments are not supported by the facts or the law. Dr. David testified that he is a board certified physician in the field of Obstetrics and Gynecology. He graduated from the University of South Florida Medical School and did his internship at Harvard Medical School. He completed his residency in Obstetrics and Gynecology from Tufts University in 1982. As briefed fully below, Plaintiff's provided substantial and credible expert testimony that Defendant breached the standard of care and proximately caused Ms. Ward' injuries, including but not limited to a hysterectomy. In the battle of the experts, the trial court found that the plaintiff's prevailed. Therefore, the defendant's appeal should be denied.

Defendant also seek to change the standard of review for this appeal to one of de novo. This Court's standard of review of a trial judgement entered following a bench trial is well settled, "A circuit judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to his findings as a chancellor," and his findings are safe on appeal where they are supported by

substantial, credible and reasonable evidence. City of Jackson v. Perry, 764 So. 2d 373, 376 (Miss. 2000) (citing Puckett v. Stuckey, 633 So. 2d 978, 982 (Miss. 1993).) Regardless of deference however, the trial court's findings with regard to expert witness Dr. Dave David are well supported by the facts and applicable law. The Defendant's make no credible argument and cite no applicable case law to support their contention that this verdict deserves a de novo review and should be overturned.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT RELY UPON NON-EXISTENT TESTIMONY THAT DEFENDANT BREACHED THE STANDARD OF CARE AND THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT "AMBUSHED" BY UNDISCLOSED TESTIMONY

The Defendant makes two contradictory arguments in their first issue for appeal. They argue that Judge Green relied on non-existent testimony to reach her conclusions in this case and then argue that Plaintiff "ambushed" Defendant with this non-existent testimony by not disclosing the testimony in her discovery responses. (Brief for Appellant pg. 14,16) It is apparent that if the testimony in which Defendants admit never occurred, then Plaintiff can not be alleged to have ambushed the Defendant. (Brief for Appellant p. 16) The trial transcript of Dr. Wolfe clearly shows that he did not testify about the treatment Ms. Ward received during her admission to University of Mississippi Medical Center. Dr. Wolfe did testify to the treatment he rendered to Ms. Ward, including but not limited the need to perform a hysterectomy in order to save Ms. Ward's life. (T. 145,150-152) Dr. Wolfe's opinion was given in full to Defendant prior to trial. Therefore Defendant's argument on this issue is without merit.

Defendants second issue is that Judge Green relied on non-existent testimony to reach her opinion. However, the record is clear that Judge Green was provided substantial and overwhelming evidence that Defendant breached the standard of care and caused Ms. Ward's injuries through their medical expert Dr. Dave David.

As with any negligence case "[r]ecovery in a negligence action requires proof by a preponderance of the evidence of the conventional tort elements: duty, breach of duty, proximate causation, and injury (i.e., damages)." *Palmer v. Biloxi Regional Medical Center, Inc.*, 564 So. 2d 1346, 1354 (Miss. 1990). In addition, the Supreme Court has also defined the standard of care to be met in a medical malpractice claim as follows: "given the circumstances of each patient, each physician has a duty to use his or her knowledge and therewith treat through maximum reasonable medical recovery, each patient, with such reasonable diligence, skill, competence, and prudence as are practiced by minimally competent physicians in the same specialty or general field of practice throughout the United States, who have available to them the same general facilities, services, equipment and options." *Hall v. Hillburn*, 466 So. 2d 866, 873 (Miss. 1985).

Dr. David testified that based on a reasonable degree of medical probability and certainty the physicians who treated Ms. Ward deviated from the standard of care and that said breach proximately and foreseeably caused damage to Ms. Ward, including but not limited to a hysterectomy. (T. 285, 287, 288, 289) Dr. David testified that the physicians caring for Ms. Ward breached the standard of care by not properly evaluating, diagnosing and treating her post-op infection. (T.261,262, 326, 327) Dr. David further testified that the physicians caring for Ms. Ward breached the standard of care by not performing a CBC, blood culture and wound culture on Ms. Ward after her fever on March 18, 2002, and on the March 27, 2002, visit to the OB Receiving unit

at Wiser Hospital.(T. 257, 258, 261, 262,262, 268, 269,270,274, 275) Dr. David also testified that the physicians caring for Ms. Ward breached the standard of care by not leaving Ms. Ward on the I.V. antibiotics until she was free of symptoms for forty eight hours, following her fever on March 18, 2002. (T.288, 289) Dr. David testified that the physicians caring for Ms.Ward breached the standard of care by not admitting Ms. Ward to the hospital on March 27, 2002 for I.V. antibiotic therapy. (274-277) Dr. David testified that Ms. Ward's resulting hysterectomy and damages was proximately and foreseeably caused by Defendants negligence.(T 280, 282, 284, 285)

Based on the fact that Dr. David did testify to the negligent treatment Earquella received while at University of Mississippi Medical Center and on every issue alluded to in the Memorandum Opinion and Judgement of the Trial Court, it is apparent that the Trial Court made a typographical error when it asserted that Dr. Wolfe provided this testimony. The Trial Court had substantial and overwhelming expert testimony to support it's verdict in this case and therefore the defendant's appeal should be denied.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT MATERIALLY MISCHARACTERIZE THE TESTIMONY OF DR. THOMAS AUSTIN.

Defendant argues that the trial court mischaracterized the testimony of Dr. Austin by stating that the tests he ordered but failed to carry out, were necessary and would have ensured that Ms. Ward receive proper treatment. Defendant's entire argument that the Trial Court's verdict should be reversed is based on the Court's paraphrasing of the testimony of Dr. Austin by use of the words "necessary to confirm his diagnosis". (A.R.E. 6, p. 5, Appellant Brief p. 17) Dr. Thomas Austin was a resident physician who performed Ms. Ward's caesarean section and examined her following her

temperature spike on March 18, 2002. It is an undisputed fact that Dr. Austin wrote orders for a CBC, urinalysis and blood cultures. It also undisputed that these tests were never carried out. Dr. Austin's deposition was taken on March 29, 2005, and was introduced as evidence in this trial. In that deposition, Dr. Austin confirmed that he did write the orders but they were never done:

Q. Let me take you to - - this is Bates-stamped 44. And at the bottom of the page it says, "additional notes 3/18/02." Is that your signature at the bottom of the page?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay. Can you read for me your note there?

A. Okay. I said "her maximum temperature was 102.8 at 7 a.m. Her lungs were clear to auscultation bilaterally. Her incision was clean dry, and intact. Her abdomen was soft. She had moderate fundal tenderness to palpation." that means the top part of the uterus was tender. And then I said "will check CBC"--which is a complete blood count--"urinalysis, blood culture, and start Unasyn for endomyometritis, EMM."

(A.R.E. 2, pp.13-14)

Q. Okay do you know if they were done?

A. From my review of the records, they were not.

Q. Do you know why?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did you ever ask any of the staff why the CBC and blood culture was not done?

A. That would be speculation on my part. I don't remember asking anyone.

(A.R.E. 2, p.16)

Dr. Austin also testified that he thought the blood cultures were important because if the organism you are treating is not sensitive to the antibiotic you are giving then you might need to change it.

Q. Okay. Why did you order a blood culture?

A. Sometimes if the antibiotics are not working, you can look at the blood culture and try to get more information.

Q. Can you explain that? What information are you looking for?

A. If you culture someone's blood and the antibiotics that you are

using—excuse me. Let me start over. If you culture someone's blood and they have an organism which is not sensitive to the antibiotic you're giving them, you might need to change it.

Q. Okay. So blood culture could grow an organism that might be treated by a different antibiotic than you prescribed?

A. Right.

Q. Did you deem those tests medically necessary?

Ms. Tipton: Objection—excuse me. Go ahead.

Q. Is that why you ordered them?

Ms. Tipton: Object to the form of the question. You can answer it if you understand it.

A. I thought, at the time, that they would be helpful.

(A.R.E 2, pp.15-16)

This is a very important admission by Dr. Austin. As explained by plaintiff's expert Dr.

David:

Q. And is that important to make a determination what type infection or culture you're dealing with?

A. The cultures?

Q. Yes.

A. Oh, yes, they're essential.

Q. And does that give you useful information to make a determination what type culture you're dealing with?

A. Oh, yes. I mean that's the only way you can tell but you won't know until you get a culture.

Q. Did Dr. Robinson do that at the Wiser Clinic?"

A. I don't believe so.

Q. Are you critical of his procedure?

A. Of not getting the cultures?

Q. Yes.

A. Yes, I am.

Q. Do you think he should have done anything else?

(T. pg. 276)

- A. Well definitely the cultures, definitely opening up the wound significantly, irrigating it out, washing it out, start on IV antibiotics, get complete good count so you have a baseline in case it's -- to see if she's getting better or worse.
- Q. Do you think that would have arrested the infection?
- A. Well, certainly cleaning it out. didn't completely arrest it, you may need the good antibiotics with that at that point.
- Q. And do you think his conduct fell below the standard of care?
- A. Yes, I do.
- Q. Do you have an opinion based on a reasonable degree of medical probability as to whether or not this conduct breached the standard of care?
- A. Yes, I do.
- Q. And what is that opinion?
- A. **It did breach the standard of care.**
(T. 277) [emphasis added]

He also later testified:

- Q. When Ms. Ward was at the University Medical Center if they had performed a CBC and a wound culture and started her on the right antibiotic, would it have avoided and cured this condition that she later suffered with?
- A. More likely than not it would have.
- Q. And is that your opinion based on a reasonable degree of medical probability?
- A. Yes, it is
(T. 282)

It is an uncontested fact that Dr. Austin wrote down his plan to perform a CBC, blood culture and urinalysis and that he felt these testes were necessary. Based on the testimony by Dr. David that this failure fell below the standard of care and proximately caused Earquella's injuries, the Trial Court's verdict should be upheld.

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT DR. DAVE DAVID WAS QUALIFIED AS AN EXPERT WITNESS AND THAT HIS TESTIMONY WAS RELEVANT AND RELIABLE.

A. The standard of review in this case is not “de novo” or heightened scrutiny as the Defendant argues.

Beginning on page 3 of defendant’s brief, they argue this court should enlarge the standard of review applicable to the factual findings of a trial court beyond this Court’s pronouncements in *City of Greenville v. Jones*, 925 So.2d 106 (Miss. 2006) and prior cases. In *City of Greenville, Id.* at ¶ 21 this Court stated:

It is hardly uncommon and certainly altogether appropriate for our overworked and understaffed trial judges to make a request similar to the one made by the trial judge in this case-request that each party's attorney send a proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law (FOFCOL) to facilitate the trial judge's ultimate entry of an opinion and order/judgment. Certainly, with today's computer technology, disks can also be sent (as was requested by the trial judge in this case). Upon receipt of these disks with the proposed FOFCOL, a trial judge and the judge's law clerk/staff attorney can then "cut and paste" into an opinion which is indeed the original work product of the trial judge, albeit containing perhaps verbatim portions of the proposed FOFCOL submitted by the respective attorneys. The only caveat we have issued to our trial judges when utilizing this method of generating an opinion is that if it appears to this Court on appeal that a trial judge has adopted verbatim the proposed FOFCOL submitted by one of the parties, by and through counsel, we will stray from our deferential treatment of a trial judge's findings of fact and instead apply a heightened scrutiny or de novo review. [emphasis added].

Defendants argument should be rejected first because they cite no authority for enlarging the standard. Defendants also make no valid factual or logical argument for changing the law with regard to the standard of review. In this case Defendants concede that the Trial Court’s findings were not “verbatim” of any submission by plaintiff’s counsel. Defendants only argue that the trial court’s findings in this case were “almost” verbatim of a counsel’s submission. (See page 20 of Defendant’s brief) In the case cited by Defendant, *Rice Researches, Inc. v. Hiter*, 512 So. 2d 1259,

1265 (Miss. 1987), the Court stated that it would not review the case de novo based on the fact that the trial judge adopted “almost verbatim” the Defendant’s proposed findings of fact. The Court wrote:

“Still, we cannot and will not review this case de novo. Obviously, the Chancery Court was of the view that over all Defendants Williams, et al., had the better of the battle. That determination is entitled to deference, though sensibly not as much as in the ordinary case” Rice Researches, Inc. v. Hiter, 512 So. 2d 1259, 1265 (Miss. 1987)

As the Defendants readily admits, the Trial Court’s opinion was not verbatim and therefore the higher standard should not be applied. Defendants essentially ask this court to become a trial court in every case where a trial judge utilizes the winning digital submissions of a party to save the court time. Such a precedent would do violence to the hierarchy of our judiciary and should be rejected.

B. Dr. David was properly found to be an expert witness.

This Court’s standard of review of a trial judgement entered following a bench trial is well settled, “A circuit judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to his findings as a chancellor,” and his findings are safe on appeal where they are supported by substantial, credible and reasonable evidence. *City of Jackson v. Perry*, 764 So. 2d 373, 376 (Miss. 2000) (citing *Puckett v. Stuckey*, 633 So. 2d 978, 982 (Miss. 1993).) Regardless of deference however, the trial court’s findings with regard to expert witness Dr. Dave David are well supported by the facts and applicable law.

During the course of the trial Dr. Dave David testified extensively to his qualifications as an expert in the field of Obstetrics and Gynecology. Dr. David graduated in 1974 from the University of Florida with honors in the field of chemistry and zoology. (A.R.E.1, pp. 1-3, T. 237-241) He then

went on to the University of South Florida Medical School in Tampa, Florida. There he graduated in three years and was president of his class. (A.R.E.1, pp. 1-3, T. 237-241) Dr. David continued his study with an internship in a combined program through Tufts University and Harvard University in Boston. (A.R.E.1, pp.1-3, T. 237-241) He finished his internship in 1979. He then completed a three year residency program and began a private medical practice in 1982. (T. 239) He testified that during the course of his practice that he had performed thousands of cesarean sections. (T. 243) He is currently licensed to practice medicine in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and formerly California. (A.R.E. 1, pp.1-3, T. 237-241) He is a member of the America Medical Association, the Norfolk County Medical Society and the New England Obstetrical Society. (A.R.E.1, pp.1-3, T. 237-241) He was also a member of the American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology. (A.R.E. 1, pp.1-3, T. 237-241) He testified that he was board certified in Obstetrics and Gynecology and was recertified in 1996. (A.R.E.1, pp. 1-3, T. 237-241)

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